017 73,766

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

FEB 15 1989

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT. By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

vs .

ROLANDO DEL SOL,

Respondent.

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

# BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CHARLES M. FAHLBUSCH Florida Bar No. 0191948 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue (N921) Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee before the Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, ROLANDO DEL SOL, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Third District. The parties, in this brief, will be referred to as they appear before this court.

The symbol "R" will be used, in this brief, to refer to the Record on Appeal as it appeared before the district court and the symbol "T" will identity the transcript of lower-court proceedings in the same manner. The appendix to this brief will be designated the symbol "App." All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 3, 1985, the State of Florida filed an eightcount information charging Respondent with three counts of armed robbery, three counts of armed kidnapping, one count of armed burglary, and one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R. 1-8A).

On August 6, 1985, the State of Florida filed an amended information. All of the counts were identical to the initial information except for Count VIII. Count VIII, the possession of

a firearm by a convicted felon count was amended to change the underlying prior felony from second-degree murder to grand theft. (R. 9-16A).

On August 26, 1985, the State of Florida once again amended the Information. This time the state added a codefendant to Count I through Count VII. Respondent stood mute to the new information and a not guilty plea was entered. (R. 26).

On October 27, 1985, the court severed Count VIII and the trial began. During jury voir dire the State of Florida used five of their peremptory challenges to exclude blacks. (T. 172-174). At least one (1) black person remained on the jury. (R. 172-174). Counsel for Respondent moved to strike the jury panel alleging that the State had used their peremptory challenges to systematically exclude blacks. The trial court recognized that the state had used challenges to exclude blacks but refused to inquire as to the reason for the challenges. Respondent unsuccessfully argued that Appellant's race was irrelevant to the state's systematic exclusion of blacks. The trial court refused to to strike the jury panel. (Tr. 174-176).

During the trial, Respondent moved for several mistrials based upon the trial court's allegedly improper comments. These motions were denied. At the conclusion of the state's case the motions for mistrial were once again renewed by Respondent and denied by the trial court. (Tr. 325-328).

After deliberations, the jury convicted Respondent of both Count I and Count III (Armed Robbery With a Firearm) as charged and found appellant guilty of two counts of false imprisonment which were lesser included offenses of Counts II and IV. Appellant was found not guilty of Counts V, VI, and VII. (R. 39-45). Prior to the sentencing, Respondent entered a guilty plea as to Count VIII. It was agreed that if Respondent's conviction as to Count I, II, III and IV were reversed, he would be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea as to Count VIII. (T. 400).

On November 19, 1986, the trial court sentenced Respondent to seven years **as** to Count I, seven years as to Count III and five years as to Counts 11, IV, VIII. All the sentences were ordered to run concurrent with each other so that the total sentence was seven years. (R. 50-53).

The Third District reversed, finding that a defendant of any race has standing to challenge the exclusion of members of any race from his jury. (App. 1). Also, evidently, the Third District found that the challenge of five (5) members of a single race, leaving one (1) member of that race on the jury, absolutely requires that systematic exclusion be presumed, whether the defendant is a member of that race or not.

The Third District also found ". . . the trial court's comments upon the credibility of witnesses. . . " to be error. (App, 1-2).

## ISSUES FRESENIED

# I.

WHETHER IT IS NOT <u>PER SE</u> REVERSIBLE FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO FAIL TO CONDUCT AN INQUIRY WHERE THE STATE HAS PEREMPTORILY CHALLENGED FIVE (5) BLACK VENIRE PERSONS, LEAVING AT LEAST ONE (1) BLACK PERSON ON THE JURY, WHERE THE DEFENDANT IS WHITE?

### II,

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON ALLEGEDLY IMPROPER COMMENTS BY THE TRIAL JUDGE?

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

Where the respondent was a white person who was not tried by an all-white jury, he has no standing to object to the alleged exclusion of black persons from the jury. Equal protection grounds cannot be relied upon, by him, where proof of exclusion of members of the defendant's race is the most basic standing requirement of <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, **476** U.S. **79 (1986).** On the other hand, he must show, to be entitled to relief due to denial of his right to an impartial jury, that his jury did not comprise a fair cross section of the community, a burden he has not even attempted to meet.

Further, the deference to be given the trial judge's determination precludes reversal based on the alleged exclusion of five black jurors, where the defendant was white and where his jury contained at least one (1) black member.

### II.

The trial judge's comments can not be considered harmful error, when considered in context, and respondent failed to meet his required burden of establishing prejudice due to them.

The decision of the Third District should be reversed.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

IT IS NOT <u>PER SE</u> REVERSIBLE FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO FAIL TO CONDUCT *AN* INQUIRY WHERE THE STATE HAS PEREMPTORILY CHALLENGED FIVE (5) BLACK VENIRE PERSONS, LEAVING AT LEAST ONE (1) BLACK PERSON ON THE JURY, WHERE THE DEFENDANT IS WHITE.

First, there is certainly no question that at least one (1) black person remained on the jury. (T. 173-174). Equally, there is no question that the respondent is not a black person. (T. 176). There is some question as to whether the State used five of six challenges against blacks, as the defense attorney alleged on page 172 of the record, or exercised only five challenges, all against black persons, as he alleged on page 173.

Certainly, there can be no question that the landmark case in this area is <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, **476** U.S. **79 (1986).** This case has set forth the following basis to establish a sufficient <u>prima facie</u> case to require an inquiry:

> . . . . These principles support our conclusion that a defendant may establish a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination in selection of the petit jury solely concerning evidence the on prosecutor's exercise of peremptory the defendant's challenges at trial. To establish such a case, the defendant first must show that he is a member of cognizable racial group, Castaneda v. Partida, supra, at 494, 51 L.Ed.2d 498, 97 S.Ct.

> > б

1272, and that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire <u>members of</u> <u>the defendant's race</u>. (emphasis added).

## <u>Id.</u> at 96.

Here, the respondent was unable to show that members of his race were systematically excluded from the jury, the most basic requirement of the Batson case. Batson is cited in State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 13 F.L.W. 184 (Fla. 1988), so heavily relied on by the defense, no less than eleven (11) times. It certainly appears that the Supreme Court of Florida approves of the Batson, standing requirement. Certainly, the Fifth District has found this standing requirement to be applicable in Florida, Kibler v. State, 501 So.2d 76 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Further, Kibler, has been relied upon by the Second District in Cash v. State, 507 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) and was even cited (albeit on other grounds) in State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 21 (Fla. 1988).

Further, although the Supreme Court of Arizona, as the defense pointed out below, does appear to support their position (Appellant's Brief, 13), the appellate courts of other States have held that a white defendant has no standing to challenge the exclusion of black jurors. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 149 (Ala. Cr. App. 1987); <u>McGuire v. State</u>, **363** S.E. 2d 850 (Ga. Ct. App. 1987); <u>State v. Bruce</u>, 745 S.W. 2d 696 (Mo. Ct. App., W.D. 1987); <u>See</u>, <u>State v. Waqster</u>, 489 So.2d 1299 (La. Ct. App. 1986).

Further, the Respondent can draw little support from <u>Castillo v. State</u>, 466 So.2d 7 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) which was not quashed on other grounds, as appellant stated below (Appellant's Brief, 11), but was affirmed on other grounds at <u>State v. Castillo</u>, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986). Indeed, it was affirmed because the prosecutor asked an improper question of a witness. The Florida Supreme Court was never required to reach the issue of whether a non-black defendant can raise a proper objection under <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) where it found that the <u>Neil</u> objection made by the defense in that case was untimely. <u>State v. Castillo</u>, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986).

Likewise, neither the respondent nor the district court can draw much support from <u>Peters v. Kiff</u>, 407 U.S. 493 (1972), which requires that the system of jury selection be proven discriminatory, a burden that the respondent didn't even attempt to meet, in this case. <u>See</u>, State v. Waqster, 489 So.2d 1299 (La. Ct. App. 1986). Thus, at the very least, the defense was required to show that the petit jury it attacks (which contained a black person) did not reflect a fair cross section of the community. <u>See, Roman v. Abrams</u>, 822 F.2d 214 (2d Cir. 1987); State v. Waqster, 489 So.2d 1299 (La. Ct. App. 1986); <u>See, also, Hobby v. United States</u>, 468 U.S. 339 (1984); <u>State v. Vincent</u>, 43 Crim.L.Rep. (BNA) 2277 (Mo. Ct. App. 1988).

Further, a comparison with other cases reveals that there was no requirement that the trial court's decision be disturbed in this case. The trial court is clearly in a better position than the reviewing court to determine if the required substantial likelihood has been demonstrated and its decision may only be overturned if clearly erroneous. Germane v. Heckler, 804 F.2d 366, 368-369 (7th Cir. 1986); United States v. Matthews, 803 F.2d 325, 330 (7th Cir. 1986); cert. granted on other grounds, 94 L.Ed.2d 788 (1987); City of Miami v. Cornett, 463 So.2d 399, 402 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); See, Schlanger v. State, 397 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Thus, the use of five (5) peremptory challenges, creating an all-white jury, did not create the required "substantial likelihood." Taylor v. State, 491 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 4th DCA Nor did the challenge of six (6) black persons 1986). resulting in a monochromatic jury. Woods v. State, 490 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1986). See Parker v. State, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1985); Thomas v. State, 502 So,2d 994 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); rev. denied, 509 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1987); Hamilton v. State, 487 So.2d 407 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). As the Florida Supreme Court stated, "exclusion of a significant number of black potential jurors. . . will be insufficient, in and of itself, to warrant reversal of a trial court's determination not to make inquiry." Woods v. State, 490 So.2d 24, 26 (Fla. 1986).

It is respectfully submitted that this court never intended failure to conduct an inquiry to be per se

reversible error where the challenge of five (5) black persons did not result in an all-white jury and where the State's motivation for the allegedly systematic exclusion was certainly minimal, given the defendant's race.

These are factors which a trial court should be able to properly take into account in deciding not to conduct an inquiry and the Third District should, therefore, be reversed on this issue. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON ALLEGEDLY IMPROPER COMMENTS BY THE TRIAL JUDGE.

First, an examination of the allegedly prejudicial comments appear to be in order. The first two were, "He's not on trial here," and "Mr. Aguilar is not on trial" referring to a witness. (Appellant's Brief below, 18; T. 233-234). The third, examined in context was;

BY MR, POTOSKY:

Q: What time did you say this incident occurred?

A: Between 6:00 and 7:00,

Q: When you gave your deposition, you were a lot more specific. You said more or less like around 7:00 o'clock.

A: Between 6:00 and 7:00 o'clock, more or less.

Q: Was your memory better now, or--

MS. JONES: Objection, Judge.

THE COURT: That deposition was taken a year ago.

He's close enouah.

MR. POTOSKY: I object to the Court commenting on the evidence.

In his deposition, he said 7:00 o'clock.

THE COURT: Now he's saying between 6:00 and 7:00.

Let the jury decide. Let them decide for themselves.

MR. POTOSKY: I'm trying to establish, Judge, why Mr. Bottino is going to say---

THE COURT: The jury heard the answer.

BY MR. POTOSKY:

Q: Did you say in your deposition that it happened more or less at 7:00 o'clock?

A: I cannot be exact because at a crucial moment, like what happened to me, nobody is going to be looking for a clock.

Q: All I'm asking you, sir, did you state in your deposition under oath, that it happened more at 7:00 o'clock?

MS. JONES: I object, Your Honor. Asked and answered.

THE COURT: The question will not asked again.

(emphasis added) (T. 238-239, Appellant's Brief below, 19-20).

The fourth comment, in context, was;

Q: Did he tell you how it is or when was the last time he had seen the gun?

A: When he was robbed at a home invasion robbery at his house.

Q: How did he identify it as being his?

A: He gave me the serial number to it and everything. I had the serial number to the gun. Q: Did he have any independent recollection of what the serial numbers are?

MR. POTOSKY: The question posed to the witness, "did he have an independent recollection---"

THE COURT: Your objection is referring to---

MR, POTOSKY: He can look at the report to refresh his memory.

MS. JONES: Officer, do you need something to refresh your recollection as to the serial number.

THE WITNESS: The property report.

THE COURT: <u>I wish we would not</u> have all of these little picayune objections. Let's get on to the trial.

MR. POTOSKY: I object to the Court that a valid legal objection is a picayune matter.

I would like to come side bar for a motion.

(emphasis added).
(Appellant's Brief below, 22; T.
261).

The fifth comment, in context, was;

(Thereupon, Counsel for the respective parties and the Court Reporter approached the Bench and the following proceedings were had outside the hearing of the jury:)

THE COURT: Can you refer me to any other page?

MR. POTOSKY: No, Judge. I asked him, and he stated in his deposition that he was arrested for were dropped, and he was dismissed and nothing else, except a suspended license.

THE COURT: No trafficking?

MR. POTOSKY: Correct.

I'm going to show through certified copies.

THE COURT: I did not know they were suspended.

MR. POTOSKY: Nobody asked.

(Thereupon, the following proceedings were had within the hearing of the jury:)

BY MR. POTOSKY:

Q: Isn't it a fact you were put on six months probation for Battery and Grand Theft Auto?

A: No, because I went to Court and they released me under the Pre-Trial Release program.

Q: You said that you were not put on six months probation from 1983?

THE COURT: Sir, I see nothing about that in here.

This is the deposition you're referring to?

MR. POTOSKY: I asked him if he was arrested for anything else and he said no. He said his only arrest was the charges that were dismissed.

THE COURT: He said it was dismissed?

MR. POTOSKY: I'm going to prove---

MS. JONES: The question is, have you ever been convicted of anything else; he said no. MR. POTOSKY: I will ask the question:

"Q: Have you ever been arrested or convicted of a crime?"

MS. JONES: What page?

MR. POTOSKY: Page 3, Line 10.

Your answer:

"A: I have been arrested for Assault and Battery but they dropped the charges.

"Q: Anything else?

"A: No. Traffic, but I believe it was with a suspended license that I did not know it was suspended."

That was your statement in deposition, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: On Line 24, I asked you how long ago was that and you told me, the case was dismissed.

I said, "How long ago," and you said a while back, about nine months ago, correct?

A: Yes, I believe I told you that.

Q: You denied being put on probation for six months for grand theft and battery?

MS. JONES: I'm going to renew my objection.

THE COURT: I'm going to sustain the objection.

This is not here, and I don't want to say anything.

MR. POTOSKY: Please mark this for identification.

THE CLERK: Defense Exhibit A-1 for identification.

(Thereupon, the aforementioned document was marked for identification as Defense Exhibit A-1).

MS. JONES: Judge, I have an objection to this and I would like to have a side bar.

If he's going to be allowed to ask questions about this, I would like to have a side bar.

(Thereupon, Counsel, for the respective parties and the Court Reporter approached the Bench, and the following proceedings were had outside the hearing of the jury;)

MR. POTOSKY: I am going to ask him if that is his signature on the bottom.

THE COURT: No more questions.

MR. POTOSKY: Judge, how can you not allow me to bring this to the jury's attention?

THE COURT: The jury may be excused for a moment.

(Thereupon, the jury left the Courtroom and the following proceedings were had outside the hearing of the jury;)

THE COURT: Mr. Potosky, I stated yesterday and I'm restating it today.

This man is a witness. He's here as an alleged victim, and you are not going to be standing here and malign him in any way.

MR. POTOSKY: Judge, the man is a liar. He made a statement under oath in deposition.

THE COURT: The deposition ---

MR, POTOSKY: I'm sorry.

THE COURT: I am not half as sorry as you're going to be sorry.

MR. POTOSKY: Let me proffer. I have certified copies showing that he was put on six months probation for battery and grand theft auto and he signed the bottom of the probation form.

THE COURT: That is not what you asked him in deposition.

MR. POTOSKY: I certainly did, sir. The deposition will speak for itself.

I asked him if he was ever arrested, and he said once for assault and battery.

THE COURT: You're not going to get into it any further now.

MR. POTOSKY: I haven't made a proffer. I have a certified arrest affidavit that showed he was arrested in 1983 for Attempted Burglary, and he was arrested for Resisting Arrest with Violence.

Judge, the man said---

THE COURT: I'm listening to what you said.

MR. POTOSKY: Judge, this is a certified document showing the man is a liar, and he lies under oath.

THE COURT: I'm not going to let you get away with that, sir. I have told you that already before. I'm not going to have you make a Defendant out of a victim.

MR. POTOSKY: He has been a Defendant before and he's denying it under oath.

Judge, he wants to testify that he didn't do these things.

Judge, he wants to testify that he didn't do these things. Let me ask him the question.

THE COURT: No, that's the end of the line of questioning.

Bring the jury back in.

(Thereupon, the jury entered the Courtroom, and the following proceedings were had within the hearing of the jury:)

THE COURT: <u>I don't want to have</u> this jury misled.

(emphasis added). (Appellant's Brief below, 21; T. 292-297).

The sixth comment, in context, was;

THE COURT: What page?

MR. POTOSKY: Page 42, and now we're on page 43.

"Q: While you were down on the ground, there was some ransacking going on in the house?

"A: Yes. They were checking the whole house, and the closets and everything.

"Q: (By the Prosecutor) After that, you were tied up and you indicated that took a minute. Is it possible it took longer than a minute to ransack the house, you were on the floor longer than a minute?"

THE WITNESS: To tie me up. MR. POTOSKY: Let me finish. Your answer, it's possible. THE COURT: Let him finish explaining.

MR. POTOSKY: I'm not done reading the passage.

THE COURT: <u>It's going to be</u> prejudiced unless he explains that first.

MR. POTOSKY: I object to the Judge saying it's prejudicial. You are commenting on the evidence, and I, again, ask for a side bar.

Judge, I'm impeaching from the deposition, and the law is clear. I read the entire passage and the witness has an opportunity to explain.

> "Q" Is it possible it took longer than a minute to ransack the house, that you were on the floor longer than a minute?"

> "A: It's possible that we were on the floor longer than a minute."

> "Q: Do you remember how long you were on the floor?

"A: You see, because when I tied up, Wayne wasn't in the house yet. He was sitting in the car.

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