IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 73,766

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-ys-

MAR 2 1989

ROLANDO DEL SOL,

Respondent.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By.

Deputy Clerk

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1351 N.W. 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-3010

ROBERT KALTER Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 260711

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I.

The Third District Court of Appeals ruled that a defendant, whatever his race, has standing to challenge the arbitrary exclusion of members of any race for grand or petit jury service.

The State of Florida used all five of its peremptory challenges to exclude black jurors. Respondent requested a <u>Neil</u> hearing. The trial court recognized that Respondent established a substantial likelihood of racial discrimination in jury selection but refused to conduct a <u>Neil</u> hearing since Respondent was not black. (T. 174-76).

The State of Florida's commitment to eliminate racial discrimination in jury selection is based on the Florida Constitutional right to have a fair cross section of the community serve on a defendant's jury. See, Article 1, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution. Every citizen no matter what his or her color has the right to have a fair cross section of the community serve on their jury. Therefore, any defendant no matter what their color has the right to object to the State's systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury.

The state's reliance on the United States Supreme Court case of <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 106 So.2d 1712 (1986) to support their argument that a standing test should exist in the State of Florida is misplaced. In <u>Batson</u> the United States Supreme Court ruled that the Equal Protection Clause of the United States

Constitution prohibited racial discrimination in jury selection. The court further ruled that in order for a party to make an equal protection argument the complaining party must have standing.

If this court had relied upon the Equal Protection Clause rather than the Article 1 Section 16, of the Florida Constitution then the state may be correct in arguing that a defendant could not object to the state's improper exclusion of blacks from the jury unless that defendant was black. However, since State v. Neil, supra, and its progeny rely upon a defendant's right to have a fair cross section of the community serve on his jury the Third District Court of Appeals correctly concluded that in the State of Florida any defendant no matter what his race can object to the state's systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury.

Point II.

The Third District Court of Appeals also decided Respondent was entitle to a new trial since the trial court made several improper comments before the jury concerning her view of the evidence and the credibility of the state's witnesses. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeals is consistent with all of the cases from this court which have continuously held that a defendant is entitle to a new trial when the trial judge makes improper comments before the jury. Therefore, this court should affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeals.

ARGUMENT

Point I.

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT ANY DEFENDANT NO MATTER WHAT HIS RACE HAS THE RIGHT TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S SYSTEMATIC EXCLUSION OF A SPECIFIC RACE FROM JURY SERVICE AND THEREFORE THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO CONDUCT A NEIL HEARING SOLELY BECAUSE RESPONDENT WAS NOT BLACK ENTITLES RESPONDENT TO A NEW TRIAL.

The Third District Court of Appeals ruled that a defendant, whatever his race, has standing to challenge the arbitrary exclusion of members of any race for grand or petit jury service and relied on the cases of Castillo v. State, 466 So.2d 7 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985) and Peters v. Kiff, 407 U.S. 493, 92 S.Ct. 2163, 33 Ed. 2d 83 (1972). The Third District Court of Appeals recognized that their decision conflicts with the Fifth District Court of Appeals decision in Kibler v. State, 501 So.2d 76 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) wherein the Fifth District held that a defendant must establish standing before he can object to the state's systematic exclusion of black's from the jury. In Kibler, Judge Orfinger wrote a concurring opinion wherein he concluded that this Court did not establish a standing test in State v. Neil, supra.

At the conclusion of jury voir dire the State of Florida used all five (5) of its peremptory challenges to exclude black jurors. Respondent objected and requested that the court conduct a Neil inquiry. The trial court refused to conduct a Neil inquiry and specifically stated that no Neil inquiry was

necessary since the Respondent was not black. Counsel then inquired from the court whether the court would have considered Respondent's argument if Respondent was black. The following colloquy occurred:

THE COURT: This is not a black defendant. I do not consider your argument.

Mr. POTOSKY: Would the Court consider my argument if Mr. Del Sol was black?

THE COURT: Yes. (T. 174-176).

Therefore, it is apparent that the court refused to conduct a Neil inquiry in this case only because the Respondent was not the same race as the group of jurors that were being systematically excluded from the jury. The state's argument that the Third District Court of Appeals ruled that a Neil hearing is automatically required whenever five members of a race are is completely without merit. The trial excluded specifically stated that a sufficient showing of discrimination was made and that the only reason a Neil inquiry was not done was because Respondent was not black. Therefore, the only issue the Third District Court of Appeals had to decide and the only issue this Court has to decide is whether a nonblack defendant has standing to object to the state's systematic exclusion of black's from the jury.

To support the contention that a defendant must establish standing to object to the state's systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury the state argues that this Court in <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988) has adopted the standing test spelled out by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Baston v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79 (Fla. 1986). Other than arguing that this

Court mentioned <u>Batson</u> several times in the <u>Slappy</u> opinion the state offers no support for the conclusion that this Court has ruled that a defendant must establish standing to object to the state denying him a jury consisting of a fair cross section of the community.

An analysis of this Court's decisions dealing with wrongfully exclusion of blacks from a jury and the <u>Batson</u> opinion reveal that the standing requirement in <u>Batson</u> is not applicable in the State of Florida. In <u>Batson</u> the United States Supreme Court ruled that the Equal Protection Clause is violated when the state systematically excludes blacks from the jury. The court recognized in the opinion that in order for a defendant to argue that he is being denied equal protection he must establish standing. In footnote four (4) of the opinion the United States Supreme Court specifically stated that the decision in <u>Batson</u> was based solely on an equal protection argument and not on a Sixth Amendment argument.

In <u>State v. Neil</u>, supra, and <u>State v. Slappy</u>, <u>supra</u>, this court recognized that Florida's commitment to destroy racial discrimination in jury selection is based on the Florida Constitution and that under the Florida Constitution every criminal defendant no matter what the color of his skin is entitle to a jury consisting of a fair cross section of the community.

In State v. Neil, supra, this Court held the following:

Article I, section 16 of the Florida Constitution guarantees the right to an impartial jury. The right to peremptory challenges is not of constitutional dimensions. The primary purpose of peremptory challenges is to aid and assist in the selection of an impartial jury. intended that such challenaes be used solely as a scalpel to excise a distinct racial group representative cross-section from a society. was not intended Ιt challenges be used to encroach upon the constitutional quarantee of an impartial As did the New York, California and Massachussetts courts, we find that adhering to the Swain test of evaluating peremptory challenges impedes, rather than furthers, article I section 16's quarantees. therefore hold that the test set out in Swain is no longer to be used by this state's courts confronted with the allegedly discriminatory use of peremptory challenges.''

The fact that this Court's decision in <u>Neil</u> was based on the Florida Constitution's right to a fair cross section of the community and not on the Equal Protection Clause of the United State's Constitution is further evidenced by this court's decision in <u>State v. Slappy</u>, supra, wherein this court held the following:

In interpreting our own Constitution this court in State v. Neil. 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) clarified sub nom, State v. Castillo, 486 So.2d 565 (1986) recognized a protection against improper bias in the selection of juries that preceded, foreshadowed and exceeds the current federal guarantees. We reaffirm this state's continuing commitment to a vigorously impartial system of selecting jurors based on the Florida's Constitution's explicit guarantee of an impartial trial. See Art. 1, section 16, Fla. Const.

Therefore, this Court has made it abundantly clear that a defendant's right to object to the state's wrongfully exclusion of blacks from the jury is based solely on the Florida Constitution's right to a fair and impartial jury and not on the Equal Protection Clause of the United State's Constitution. The

State of Florida completely ignores this fact in their brief and fails to argue to this court why a non-black should not have the right to object to the state's systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury. 1

In State v. Bruce, 745 S.W.2d 696 (Mo. App. 1987) a case relied upon by the state, the Missouri court ruled that the Sixth Amendment did not require that a jury consist of a fair cross section of the community and therefore a standing test is defendant appropriate when а complains about discrimination in jury selection. Since this court has ruled that the Florida Constitution does guarantee that a defendant have the opportunity to have a fair cross section of the community serve on his jury the holding in State v Bruce, supra, is not applicable in this state. The reasons for rejecting a standing requirement in a situation where the state wrongfully excludes blacks from the jury were recognized by Judge Manford who wrote a dissenting opinion in State v Bruce, supra. Judge Manford stated the following:

What Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.E.d.2d. 69 (1986); Smith, supra: and the present cases continue to illustrate is the hypocrisy in the law today. This hypocrisy arises from the hue and

The State cites cases from other states to support its position that the Third District Court of Appeals erred in ruling that in the State of Florida a non-black has the right to object to the state's wrongful exclusion of blacks from a jury. An analysis of the cases cited by the state reveal that in those cases the state's have not relied on their own state's constitutional right to have a fair cross section of the community serve on the jury but instead have relied on the Equal Protection Clause. Therefore, these cases have no relevance to the issue before this court.

cry and repeated assertion that the law is color blind or race neutral: but then on the other hand, <u>Batson</u> and other rulings provide a constitutional safeguard limited by the race of the accused. As stated in <u>Smith</u>, 737 S.W.2d at 742, the only thing separating the various defendants and a right versus the denial of a right to challenge particular venire persons, is the color of their skin. So long as <u>Batson</u>, <u>Smith</u>, and other cases follow such reasoning, discrimination will never be eliminated from jury selection."

standing test is Whereas а appropriate in Protection context, the color of a defendant's skin is completely irrelevant in determining whether the state's systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury denies a defendant the right to a jury composed of a fair cross section of the community. See, Judge Brennan's dissent in Teague v. Lane, U.S. Supreme Court Case No. 87-5209, Criminal Law Reporter 44, No. 20 Pg. 3144. The Florida Constitution quarantees all criminal defendant's the right to have a jury that consists of a fair cross section of the community. This protection does not apply only to blacks. black and white defendant's have the right to have both blacks and whites serve on their juries. To hold that only black defendant's have the right to object to the state's systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury would be to reinforce the prejudice that the this Court has tried to eliminate in Neil and Slappy.

The California Supreme Court, similar to this Court, has recognized the importance of a jury consisting of a fair cross section of the community in People v. Wheeler, 583 P.2d 748 (Cal. 1978) when the court held the following:

Summing up, we repeatedly emphasized (at

754, 278 P.2d at p. 18) the need for compliance with the representative crosssection rule as a precondition to trial by an impartial jury: "The American system requires an impartial jury drawn from a cross-section of the entire community and recognition must be given to the fact that eligible jurors are to be found in every stratum of society. . . Any system or method of jury selection which fails to adhere to these democratic fundamentals, which is not designed encompass a cross-section of the community or limited social or seeks to favor economic classes, is not in keeping with the American tradition and will not be condoned by this court." (See also *People* v. *Carter* (1961) 56 Cal.2d 549, 568-570, 15 Cal.Rptr. 645, 364 P.2d 477.)

The Arizona Supreme Court on July 19, 1988, in <u>State v. Superior Ct.</u> (Gardner) 43 Crim.L. 1069 held that racial bias in jury selection requires a new trial in that state even if the defendant was not of the same race as the jurors that were excluded. The Arizona court's logic is compelling:

"If we apply the <u>Batson</u> principle exclusively to those cases in which the defendant and the excluded jurors are of the identical race or ethnic group, our trial judges and lawyers will frequently be forced to inquire into the racial and ethnic makeup of particular jurors.

We should adopt the rule that would obviate or reduce the necessity for such an unseemly intrusive procedure.

The discriminatory exclusion of jurors from any cognizable group necessarily violates the right to a chance for a fair cross section no what the racial orcharacteristics of the defendant, his lawyer, judge, or any party to the action. "necessarily" (emphasis on added demonstrate the court's ruling that actions are a per se requirement. This court should not consider the failure to inquire harmless error).

In conclusion it is Respondent's position that the Third

District Court of Appeals correctly concluded that a non-black has the right to object to the state's systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury. Since the trial court failed to conduct a Neil inquiry only because the court felt Respondent had no standing to object to the state's wrongful exclusion of blacks from the jury, Respondent is entitle to a new trial. Therefore, this court should affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeals which granted Respondent a new trial.

POINT 11.

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPROPER COMMENTS IN FRONT OF THE JURY CONCERNING HER VIEW OF THE EVIDENCE AND THE CREDIBILITY OF THE WITNESSES ENTITLED RESPONDENT TO A NEW TRIAL.

During the trial, Respondent made several motions for mistrial since the trial judge was making comments before the jury concerning her view of the evidence, the credibility of the witnesses and her opinion of the defense strategy. At the conclusion of the case, counsel for Respondent renewed his motion for mistrials. All of the motions were denied. (Tr. 233, 234, 238, 261, 297, 316, 325-328).

The trial judge is the dominant figure at a trial and her comments tending to show her view as to the weight of the evidence, the credibility of a witness or the guilt of the accused destroys the required impartiality of the trial. See Hamilton v. State, 109 So.2d 442 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975); Parese v. State, 320 So.2d 444 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975); Gordon v. State, 449 So.2d 1302 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Whitfield v. State, 479 So.2d 208 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); and Huhn v. State, 511 So.2d 583 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

In <u>Hamilton v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court recognized the following:

The dominant position occupied by a judge in the trial of a cause before a jury is such that his remarks or comments, especially as they relate to the proceedings before him, overshadow those of the litigants, witnesses and other court officers. Where such comment expresses or tends to express the judge's view as to the weight of the evidence, the credibility of a witness, or the guilt of an

accused, it thereby destroys the impartiality of the trial to which the litigant or accused is entitled.

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